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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 
 

 Appellant New Union Wildlife Federation (“NUWF”) filed a citizen suit in the United 

States District Court for the District of New Union, seeking review under Clean Water Act 

(CWA) § 505.  (R. at 5.)  The district court had proper subject matter jurisdiction since federal 

district courts have original jurisdiction of all civil actions arising under the laws of the United 

States.  28 U.S.C. § 1331 (2006). 

 On June 1, 2012, in Civ. No. 149-2012, the district court granted Appellee Jim Bob 

Bowman’s (“Bowman”) motion for summary judgment on all counts and denied NUWF’s 

motion for summary judgment on all counts.  (R. at. 11.)  The Order of the district court was a 

final decision, and this Court has proper jurisdiction to hear appeals from any final decision of 

the United States District Court for the District of New Union.  28 U.S.C. § 1291 (2006). 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

 

I. Whether NUWF has standing through its members and as an organization to bring a § 

505 civil action against Bowman for violating the Clean Water Act, when NUWF has 

alleged it and its members have suffered injuries due to Bowman’s landclearing 

activities. 

 

II. Whether there is a continuing or ongoing violation as required by § 505(a) of the Clean 

Water Act for subject matter jurisdiction when Bowman conducted his landclearing 

activities. 

 

III. Whether the diligent prosecution by the New Union Department of Environmental 

Protection (“NUDEP”) bars NUWF's citizen suit pursuant to Clean Water Act § 505(b) 

when NUDEP had already commenced a civil action against Bowman at the time NUWF 

filed its Complaint. 

 

IV. Whether Bowman violated §§ 301(a) and 404 of the Clean Water Act when he conducted 

landclearing activities on a regulated wetland without obtaining a §404 permit. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 

 On August 10, 2011, after issuing an administrative order to Bowman, NUDEP brought 

suit in district court under § 505 of the CWA. (R. at 5.)  On August 30, 2011, NUWF filed its 

own § 505 complaint seeking civil penalties and an order requiring Bowman to remove the fill 

material and restore the wetlands.  (R. at 5.)  On September 21, 2011, NUWF filed a motion to 

intervene in the NUDEP § 505 action, to consolidate the NUDEP and NUWF actions, and an 

opposition to entry the decree proposed by NUDEP in the NUDEP § 505 action. (R. at 5.)  At 

about the same time, NUDEP filed a motion to intervene in the NUWF cases, which the district 

court subsequently granted.  (R. at 5.) 

 After discovery, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R. at 5.)  The 

district court granted Bowman’s motion on all grounds and denied NUWF’s motion on all 

grounds.  (R. at 5.)  The district court held that: (1) NUWF lacked standing to bring a citizen suit 

against Bowman pursuant to the CWA § 505; (2) there was no continuing violation as required 

for subject matter jurisdiction under § 505(a) of the CWA; (3) NUFW’s citizen suit is barred by 

NUDEP’s diligent prosecution of Bowman under § 505(b) of the CWA; and (4) Bowman did not 

violate §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA.  (R. at 1.) 

 NUWF filed a Notice of Appeal challenging all four of the district court’s holdings.  (R. 

at 1.)  NUDEP filed a Notice of Appeal challenging the district court’s holding that NUWF did 

not have standing to bring its citizen suit and that Bowman did not violate § 404 of the CWA.  

(R. at 1.) 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 

Bowman owns one thousand acres of land adjacent to the Muddy River (“Muddy”) in the 

State of New Union.  (R. at 3.)  The Muddy forms the border between New Union and Progress 



3 

 

and runs forty miles both upstream and downstream from Bowman’s property.  (R. at 3.)  The 

Muddy is commonly used for recreational boating, fishing, and frogging, on or in the vicinity of 

Bowman’s property.  (R. at 3, 6.)  Three of NUWF’s members testified they use this portion of 

the Muddy for recreation.  (R. at 6.)   Bowman’s one thousand acres includes six hundred fifty 

(650) feet of shoreline on the Muddy.  (R. at 3.)  The property is wholly within the one-hundred 

year flood plain of the Muddy and maintains the integrity of the Muddy by absorbing sediment 

and pollutants and serving as a buffer for flooding. (R. at 3, 6.)  The parties agree that the 

property is a wetland, as determined by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Wetlands 

Determination Manual. (R. at 3-4.) 

 On June 15, 2011, Bowman commenced land clearing operations.  (R. at 4.)  His 

activities consisted of using a bulldozer to knock down trees and other vegetation, and to push 

the vegetation remains into windrows to be burned.  (R at 4.)  Bowman then leveled the field by 

pushing soil from high portions into low lying areas, and pushing the remaining soil, vegetation 

remains, and ashes into trenches he dug in the wetland.  (R at 4.)  Bowman also excavated a wide 

ditch from the back of his property to the Muddy in order to drain the field.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman 

completed this work on or about July 15, 2011.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman left a strip of land 

approximately one hundred fifty (150) feet wide adjacent to the Muddy to clear after it had 

drained.  (R. at 4.)  In September 2011, once the field had sufficiently drained, Bowman sowed 

and planted the field with winter wheat.  (R at 5.) 

  Shortly after NUDEP became aware of Bowman’s activities in July 2011, NUDEP sent 

Bowman a notice of violation informing him that he had violated both state and federal law by 

clearing the land.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman entered into a settlement agreement with NUDEP, 

agreeing not to clear more wetlands in the area.  (R. at 4.)  He also agreed to convey to NUDEP a 
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conservation easement on the one hundred fifty (150) foot wide strip of still wooded property 

adjacent to the Muddy, plus an additional seventy five (75) foot buffer zone between the wooded 

area and the new field.  (R. at 4.)  In addition, he agreed to construct and maintain a year-round, 

partially inundated wetland on the buffer zone.  (R. at 4, 8.)  The conservation easement allows 

public entry for recreational purposes and requires Bowman to keep the easement in its natural 

state, other than constructing and maintaining the seventy five (75) foot buffer zone as an 

artificial wetland.  (R. at 4.)  A NUDEP biologist testified that, once fully-established, this 

artificial wetland will provide richer wetland habitat than the former wetland.  (R. at 6.)   

NUDEP issued an administrative order incorporating their terms of the agreement, which 

Bowman consented to on August 1, 2011.  (R. at 4.)  On September 5, 2011, NUDEP filed a 

motion to enter a decree, again with terms identical to the state administrative order.  (R. at 5.)  

Bowman consented to both the motion and the decree.  (R. at 5.)  This motion is still pending.  

(R. at 5.) 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This case involves an appeal from the district court’s grant of summary judgment.  

Summary judgment is a question of law, and therefore, should be reviewed de novo.  See PCI 

Transp. Inc. v. Fort Worth & W. R.R. Co., 418 F.3d 535, 540 (5th Cir. 2005).  Accordingly, the 

opinions and conclusions by the district court should not be afforded deference by this court.  See 

Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 557 (1988). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 

NUWF has standing to bring its CWA § 505 citizen suit through its members and as an 

organization under Article III of the Constitution.  NUWF’s standing is achieved through its 

members because they have met the burden in showing injury, causation, and redressability.  
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NUWF members Dottie Milford, Zeke Norton, and Effie Lawless fear Bowman’s landclearing 

activities have damaged the area and their personal use of the Muddy.  This injury is caused by 

Bowman’s landclearing operations.  Next, a favorable decision by this Court will redress their 

injuries, either through civil penalties or the order to restore the wetlands.  Further, NUWF has 

organizational standing because, (1) its three members have standing in their individual 

capacities, (2) NUWF’s interests are germane to the CWA § 505 citizen suit, and (3) individual 

participation by NUWF members in the action is not necessary.   

 While NUWF has standing, there is no continuing violation as required for subject matter 

jurisdiction under § 505(a) of the CWA.  Although Bowman violated the CWA, his violations 

are “wholly past.”  Bowman ceased all clearing activities on his land on July 15, 2011.  He 

entered into a settlement agreement and consented to a decree with NUDEP that forbids him to 

develop his land in any further way.  The order requires him to keep the still wooded area in its 

natural state, and construct and maintain an artificial wetland on his property.  Bowman’s 

activities do not have any likelihood of resuming and he has committed to take sufficient 

remedial action.  Therefore, the district court was correct in holding Bowman’s alleged 

violations are wholly past, and therefore, NUWF has failed to satisfy § 505 jurisdiction 

requirement.   

The district court also properly held that NUDEP’s diligent prosecution of Bowman’s 

CWA violation bars NUWF’s citizen suit.  NUDEP commenced and is diligently prosecuting a 

civil action against Bowman.  NUDEP commenced a suit against Bowman before NUWF filed 

its complaint.  Since the time of filing their suit, NUDEP has pursued action against Bowman to 

comply with the CWA.  For this reason, NUWF’s citizen suit is barred because NUDEP has 

fulfilled all the requirements of CWA § 505(b)(1)(B) to bar a citizen suit.  Further, NUDEP’s 
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agreement with Bowman requires compliance with the CWA and NUWF’s action is moot 

because Bowman’s actions cannot reasonably be expected to recur. 

 Finally, Bowman violated §§ 301 and 404 of the CWA because he did not obtain a § 404 

permit before he discharged dredged and fill material into a regulated wetland.  The district court 

properly held that all of the elements of a CWA violation were satisfied, except for its 

examination of the term “addition” within the definition of “discharge of a pollutant.”  Contrary 

to the district court’s holding, COE’s jurisdiction under § 404 is not limited to a discharge of 

pollutants that are brought “from the outside world.”  Bowman’s landclearing activities 

constitute an “addition” because they redeposited dredged and fill materials within the wetland.  

His activities also included mechanized landclearing and sidecasting, which both constitute an 

“addition” under well-settled jurisdictional doctrine.  Further, Bowman’s activities do not 

constitute “incidental fallback” within COE’s definition of “discharge of dredged material” 

because he did not remove material from the wetland.  A holding in this case that Bowman’s 

landclearing activities meet the definition of “addition” and are regulated under § 404 is 

consistent with the goals of the CWA. 
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ARGUMENT 

 

I. NUWF HAS STANDING TO BRING SUIT UNDER CWA § 505 AGAINST 

BOWMAN THROUGH ARTICLE III STANDING FOR AN INDIVIDUAL AND AS 

AN ORGANIZATION 

 

The doctrine of standing determines who may prosecute a claim in federal court.  The 

question of standing “involves both constitutional limitations on federal-court jurisdiction and 

prudential limitations on its exercise.”  Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 498 (1975).  Prudential 

standing, however, is not required in CWA citizen suit cases.  Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 

162 (1997).  Constitutional limitations derive from Article III of the Constitution.  U.S. CONST. 

art. III, § 2.  Article III of the constitution limits the power of the federal courts to “cases” and 

“controversies”.  U.S. CONST. art. III, § 2.   

 The Supreme Court has held that to satisfy Article III’s standing requirements, a plaintiff 

must show:  

(1) it has suffered an injury in fact that is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) 

actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical; (2) the injury is fairly 

traceable to the challenged action of the defendant; and [(]3) it is likely, as 

opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable 

decision.   

 

Friends of the Earth Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Services (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 180–181 (2000);  

Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560–561 (1992); Valley Forge Christian Coll. v. 

Americans United for Separation of Church and State, Inc., 454 U.S. 464, 472 (1982).  Further, 

organizations have to meet a larger burden than an individual when bringing suit. 

An association has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members when its 

members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right, the interests at 

stake are germane to the organization’s purpose, and neither the claim asserted 

nor the relief requested requires the participation of individual members in the 

lawsuit.  

 

Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 181. 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1975129820&pubNum=708&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_708_2205
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a. NUWF meets Article III standing requirements for individuals. 

 

NUWF’s members have met the burden in showing Article III standing.  They have 

suffered an injury in fact, that is caused by Bowman’s landclearing activities, and a favorable 

decision by this Court will redress their injuries. 

i. NUWF haw shown sufficient injury in fact to support Article III standing. 

 

In determining whether NUWF has Article III standing, NUWF’s members must first 

prove they have suffered an injury. Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 180–81.  The plaintiff must show it has 

suffered an injury in fact, that is concrete and particularized, and actual or imminent, not 

conjectural or hypothetical.  Id.  Additionally, the Supreme Court has held that “environmental 

plaintiffs adequately allege injury in fact when they aver that they use the affected area and are 

persons ‘for whom the aesthetic and recreational values of the area will be lessened’ by the 

challenged activity.”  Id. at 183. (quoting Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 735 (1972)); see 

Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 562–563 (1992) (“Of course, the desire to use or 

observe an animal species, even for purely esthetic purposes, is undeniable a cognizable interest 

for purposes of standing.”).  Further, an environmental plaintiff need only show a fear of 

pollution to prove injury.  Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., 204 F.3d 

149, 156 (4th Cir. 2000); see American Bar Association Section of Environment, Energy, and 

Resources, The Clean Water Act Handbook, 260–261(Mark A. Ryan ed.)(3rd ed. 2011) 

 Here, NUWF has submitted affidavits of three members: Dottie Milford, Zeke Norton, 

and Effie Lawless.  All three members have an injury in fact sufficient to support the first prong 

of standing.  Milford, Norton, and Lawless all use the Muddy for boating, fishing, and occasional 

picnicking on the banks of the Muddy on or in the vicinity of Bowman’s property.  (R. at 6.)  

The trio is aware that this wetland maintains the integrity of the Muddy, absorbing sediment, and 
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pollutants and serving as a buffer for flooding.  (R. at 6.)  They fear Bowman’s landclearing 

activities have polluted the wetland and are directly affected by the loss associated with the 

landclearing.  (R. at 6.)  Bowman’s activities have also resulted in a loss of the member’s  ability 

to use the Muddy for recreation.  The three members have demonstrated an injury in fact.  They 

have shown that Bowman’s activities have lessened the recreational values of the area.  Further 

as in Gaston Copper, the three members have a fear of pollution, which proves an injury.  

 Additionally, Mr. Norton has frogged the area for years, illegally, and now states there 

are less frogs for his subsistence and recreation purposes.  (R. at 6.)  While courts have not yet 

addressed illegal activity by a plaintiff and standing in environmental suits, the Supreme Court 

has ruled in anti-trust and Fourth Amendment cases that illegal action by a plaintiff does not 

preclude standing.  Kiefer-Stewart Co. v. Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc., 340 U.S. 211 (1951); 

Perma Life Mufflers, Inc. v. Int’l Parts Corp., 392 U.S. 134 (1968)(overruled on other grounds); 

see United States v. Washington, 573 F.3d 279 (6th Cir. 2000) (holding that although Plaintiff 

conducted illegal activities in an apartment, he had a reasonable expectation of privacy and could 

bring suit for violation of his Fourth Amendment rights).  In Kiefer, the plaintiff bringing the suit 

had violated the Sherman Antitrust Act by agreeing with other wholesalers to set minimum 

prices for sale of liquor.  Kiefer-Stewart, 340 U.S. 211.  While plaintiff was guilty of illegal 

conduct, the Court did not deny standing and held that there were other means available to 

aggrieved persons to attack the plaintiff.  Id. at 214.  In Perma, the plaintiffs were automotive 

parts dealers who entered into agreements in violation of antitrust laws.  The Court held that the 

purpose of the antitrust laws were best served by ensuring that an action against an individual 

will be ever present to deter wrongdoing. Perma, 392 U.S. at 139.  The Court stated that “[t]he 

plaintiff who reaps the reward of treble damages may be no less morally reprehensible than the 
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defendant, but the law encourages his suit to further the overriding public policy in favor of 

competition.”  Id. 

 In this case, while Mr. Norton did trespass on private property, the purpose of the CWA 

is to promote and benefit the waters of the United States.  See 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a) (2006).  As in 

Perma, while Mr. Norton’s action are reprehensible, standing should not be denied merely 

because of his acts.  CWA § 505 is meant to bring defendants into compliance with the Act and 

allowing Mr. Norton standing is a means to accomplish that goal. 

ii. NUWF has met the burden of proving causation for Article III standing. 

  

 The second prong of standing is causation.  A plaintiff’s injuries must be fairly traceable 

to the challenged action of the defendant.  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 180–81.  The plaintiff does not 

have to meet the burden with scientific proof, only that the injury be fairly traceable.  Pub. 

Interest Research Group of N.J., Inc. v. Powell Duffryn Terminals Inc., 913 F.2d 64, 72 (3d. Cir. 

1990), cert. denied 498 U.S. 1109 (1991).  

 The injury to Milford, Norton, and Lawless is fairly traceable to Bowman.  The only 

conduct that has occurred in the area is the clearing of land by Bowman in June and July 2011.  

(R. at 4.)  The fear of pollution and loss of frogs as stated by Norton are a direct link to the 

change in the surrounding area.  It is not attenuated.  Rather the harm is a direct result in the 

change to the land next to the Muddy.  A change caused by Bowman.  NUWF’s members’ 

injuries are directly caused by the clearing of land, and therefore, are fairly traceable to 

Bowman’s actions. 

iii. NUWF has shown a favorable decision by the Court will redress its injuries 

sufficient for Article III standing. 

 

 To satisfy the final prong of Article III standing for an individual, that individual must 

show that their injury is likely to be redressed by a favorable decision by the court.  Lujan at 561.  
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NUWF filed civil suit seeking civil penalties and an order to restore the wetlands and remove the 

fill material placed there by Bowman.  (R. at 5.)   

Both civil penalties and an order requiring removal of fill material provide redress to 

NUWF.  The Supreme Court has held that civil penalties are not redressable where the plaintiff 

did not allege any ongoing or continuing violations of the CWA.  Steel Co. v. Citizens for a 

Better Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 106–108 (1998); see Michael J. Wray, Still Standing? Citizen Suits, 

Justice Scalia’s New Theory of Standing and the Decision in Steel Company v. Citizens for a 

Better Env’t, 8 S.C. Envtl. L. J. 207, 223–224 (2000).  The Court, however, distinguished Steel 

Company and held that civil penalties under the CWA promote immediate compliance and delay 

future violations and hence can provide redress for plaintiffs.  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 185. 

The complaint for civil penalties and an order against Bowman, if successful in a court, 

will allow redress to NUWF.  Civil penalties deter future violators and would ensure that 

Bowman would not violate the CWA again.  Further, the administrative order requiring remedial 

actions will not only restore, but also provide a richer and higher quality habitat, in the wetlands 

on Bowman’s property, as noted by a NUDEP biologist.  This will allow NUWF’s members to 

resume their recreational activities.  If the Court is to grant either remedy, NUWF’s injuries will 

be redressed. 

b. NUWF has organizational standing to bring suit. 

 As noted above, organizations have a larger standing burden than an individual.  Laidlaw, 

528 U.S. at 181.  Organizations must show that their members would have individual standing, 

the organizations interests are germane and that participation by individual members is not 

needed.  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 181. 

 Here, Milford, Norton and Lawless all have individual standing as they have suffered an 



12 

 

injury, that is traceable to Bowman’s actions, and that injury is redressable by the relief request.  

NUWF is an organization concerned with the protection of the environment.  (R. at 4.)  NUWF’s 

interests in protecting the environment are germane to the action at bar.  NUWF and NUDEP 

have brought suits under the CWA, which is meant to protect and restore the nation’s waters.  33 

U.S.C. § 1251(a) (2006).  The interests of NUWF are germane to the citizen suit.  Lastly, 

because of NUWF’s particular environmental concerns in the state of New Union the 

participation by its individual members is not necessary. 

 NUWF has organizational standing as its members have individual standing under Article 

III, NUWF’s interests are germane to the citizen suit proceeding, and individual participation by 

the members is not needed. 

II. THERE IS NO CONTINUING OR ONGOING VIOLATION OF THE CWA AS 

REQUIRED BY CWA § 505(a) FOR SUIT BY NUWF. 

 

The CWA states “any citizen may commence a civil action . . . against any person  . . . . 

who is alleged to be in violation” of the Act. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a) (2006).  The Supreme Court 

has held that § 505 requires CWA violations to be continuing or ongoing as a matter of subject 

matter jurisdiction.  Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., 484 U.S. 49, 50 

(1987).  This may be shown “either (1) by proving violations that continue on or after the date 

the complaint is filed, or (2) by adducing evidence from which a reasonable trier of fact could 

find a continuing likelihood of a recurrence in intermittent or sporadic violations.”  Gwaltney, 

484 U.S. at 50; Or. State Pub. Interest Research Group, Inc. v. Pac. Coast Seafoods Co., 361 F. 

Supp. 2d 1232, 1240 (D. Or. 2005); Sierra Club v. Union Oil Co. of Cal., 853 F.2d 667, 671 (9th 

Cir.1988); Carr v. Altra Verde Indus., Inc., 931 F.2d 1055, 1062 (5th Cir. 1991).  Here, there is 

no continuing violation as required for subject matter jurisdiction under § 505(a) of the CWA.  

Although Bowman violated the CWA, his violations are wholly past.  
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  In Gwaltney, the Plaintiff repeatedly violated the conditions of his CWA § 402 permit.  

Gwaltney, 484 U.S at 54.  The Supreme Court held the “language and structure of the rest of § 

505’s citizen suit provisions make plain the harm sought to be addressed by such a suit lies in the 

present or future, rather than the past.”  Id. at 50.  The Court came to this conclusion by 

considering the notice provision of § 505, which the Court concluded its purpose to give the 

alleged violator to bring itself in compliance with the CWA before a suit is filed.  Id.  

Accordingly, the Court held that if courts determine that citizen suits may target wholly past 

violations, the notice requirement “becomes gratuitous.”  Id. at 60.  

a. Violations have not continued on or after the date the Complaint was filed. 

 The Supreme Court has held that alleged violations of § 505 of the CWA are continuing 

or ongoing as a matter of subject matter jurisdiction in one of two ways.  Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 

50; Or. State Pub., 361 F. Supp. 2d at 1240 (citing Sierra Club v. Union Oil Co. of Cal., 853 

F.2d 667, 671 (9th Cir.1988)).  The first, by proving violations have continued on or after the 

date the complaint is filed.  Id. 

Bowman ceased his clearing activities on July 15, 2011.  (R. at 4.)  NUDEP filed its 

Complaint against Bowman on August 10, 2012.  (R. at 5.)  Bowman was not committing any of 

the alleged violations on or after the date the Complaint was filed.  Thus, NUDEP has failed to 

show violations have continued on or after the date the Complaint was filed. 

b. There is no continuing likelihood of a recurrence in intermittent or sporadic 

violations. 

 

The second means of showing a violation under § 505 of the CWA is by “adducing 

evidence from which a reasonable trier of fact could find a continuing likelihood of a recurrence 

in intermittent or sporadic violations.” Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 50; Or. State Pub., 361 F. Supp. 2d 

at 1240 (citing Sierra Club v. Union Oil Co. of Cal., 853 F.2d 667, 671 (9th Cir.1988)).  In 
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determining whether the alleged violations are ongoing or reasonably likely to recur, courts 

consider: (1) whether remedial actions have been taken to cure the alleged violations, (2) the 

probability that such remedial measures will be effective, and (3) any evidence bearing on 

whether the risk of defendant's continued violation was completely eradicated when plaintiffs 

filed their complaint. Adams v. Teck Cominco Alaska, Inc., 414 F. Supp. 2d 925, 937 (D. Alaska 

2006) (citing Sierra Club v. Union Oil Co. of Cal., 853 F.2d 667, 671 (9th Cir. 1988)). 

Bowman ceased his landclearing activities on July 15, 2011.  (R. at 4.)  Since Bowman 

completed all of his landclearing activities, the district court correctly recognized that there is no 

reason to believe he will resume these activities.  (R. at 7.)  Bowman has agreed with NUDEP to 

not clear more wetland in the area.  (R. at 4–5.)  Bowman entered into a settlement agreement in 

lieu of a harsh penalty, conveying to NUDEP a conservation easement on his remaining 

property.  (R. at 4.)  The agreement requires Bowman to keep the easement area in its natural 

state and requires Bowman to construct and maintain a year-round partially inundated wetland.   

(R. at 4.)  A NUDEP biologist testified that the new artificial wetland will provide a richer and 

higher quality wetland habitat than the former wetland.  (R. at 6.)  These requirements illustrate 

that Bowman will not conduct any further clearing activities and will sufficiently remedy any of 

the alleged CWA violations.  Thus, Bowman’s violations have no likelihood to reoccur and are 

wholly past.   

Additionally, ‘“the purpose of the citizen suit is to stop violations of the CWA that are 

not challenged by appropriate state and federal authorities.’” George v. Reisdorf Bros., Inc., 696 

F. Supp. 2d 333, 340 (W.D.N.Y. 2010) aff'd, 410 F. App'x 382 (2d Cir. 2011) (quoting 

Riverkeeper, Inc. v. Mirant Lovett, LLC, 675 F. Supp. 2d 337, 343 (S.D.N.Y. 2009)); Atlantic 

States Legal Found., Inc. v. Eastman Kodak, 933 F.2d 124, 127 (2d Cir.1991).  Thus, “citizen 
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suits brought under the CWA must be prospective in nature and must supplement, not supplant, 

state enforcement of the Act.”  Id.  

New Union has sufficiently addressed Bowman’s activities.  NUDEP negotiated a 

settlement with Bowman that required Bowman to immediately cease further violations of § 404 

and in lieu of penalty, to deed a conservation easement of his property, in which he will preserve 

the remaining area in its natural state. (R. at 7.)  The decree also required Bowman to construct 

and maintain a year-around partially inundated wetland.  (R. at 4.)  As the district court correctly 

recognized, these measures will preserve the viewscape of the Muddy and enhance the wetlands 

and the NUDEP’s action meet all the requirements of the CWA and NUWF’s suit is barred.  (R. 

at 8.) 

c.    NUWF’s continuing violation theory is without merit.  

 NUWF argues the continued presence of dredged and fill material in the former wetland 

constitutes a continuing or ongoing violation.  (R. at 7.)  In making this argument, NUWF cites 

Sasser v. Adm’r., U.S. EPA, 990 F.2d 127, 128 (4th Cir. 1993).  (R. at 7.)  In Sasser, the 

landowner’s work involved filling the breaks in the old embankment, installing a water gate, and 

discharging dredged or fill material into the wetlands. 990 F.2d at 128.  The EPA issued an 

administrative order requiring Sasser to cease and desist his activities and to submit a restoration 

plan.  Id.  Upon Sasser’s failure to comply, the EPA again requested the plan and subsequently 

issued an administrative consent order imposing a restoration plan.  Id.  Sasser’s refusal to 

comply with these orders led to the issuance of a complaint charging violation of § 301 of the 

CWA.  Id. 

 This case is factually distinguishable from Sasser.   Bowman immediately complied with 

the State’s requests and ceased all landclearing activities.  Further, Bowman took remedial action 
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by agreeing to construct and maintain a year-round wetland on the seventy five (75) foot buffer 

zone.  Sasser, on the other hand, not only refused to cease his activities, but also took no 

remedial action. 

 Further, Sasser has been analyzed by other courts in determining whether a continuing 

violation has occurred.  See United States v. Telluride Co., 884 F. Supp. 404, 406 (D. Colo. 

1995)( rev’d on other grounds, 146 F.3d 1241 (10th Cir. 1998)).  Here, Telco, the alleged 

violator, asserted the plain language of the CWA does not create a continuing violation when it 

states: “the discharge of any pollutant by any person shall be unlawful.”  Id. at 407 (citing 33 

U.S.C. § 1311(a) (2006)).  Telco claimed that a discharge violates the CWA and once the 

discharge is complete, the violation is also complete.  Id.  The government argued that because 

the CWA provides for penalties and injunctive relief, Congress must have intended the offense 

of illegally filling a wetland and not taking corrective action to be treated as a continuing one.  

Id.  at 408.  

The court concluded that even though damage caused by filling wetlands continues long 

beyond the actual discharge, to adopt the government's position would be to rob the meaning of 

statute of limitations provision of the CWA.  Id. at 408.  The court recognized that because Telco 

was not presently discharging pollutants, no present or continuing violation existed.  Id. The 

court went on to state the fact that a continuing impact exists from Telco's past violations does 

not render the violation continuing. Id.  

Additionally, in United States v. Rutherford Oil Corp., 756 F. Supp. 2d 782, 791–92 

(S.D. Tex. 2010) the court considered the Sasser’s and Telluride’s interpretations of the ongoing 

violation requirement under the CWA.  Again, the government cited Sasser to support its 

argument that the CWA creates a continuing duty until damage from a violation is remedied.  Id.   
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The Rutherford court held, however, that once the violator stops adding a pollutant in violation 

of a permit, the violation itself is over.  Id at 791.  The court stated that “what remains are the 

effects of the violation, but absent a continuing obligation that is itself violated, the effects are 

not themselves violations.”  Id.; see United States v. Scruggs, Civ. A. No. G–06–776, 2009 WL 

81921, at *6, *11 (S.D.Tex. Jan. 12, 2009) (citing Hamker v. Diamond Shamrock Chem. Co., 

756 F.2d 392, 397 (5th Cir.1985)); Nat'l Parks & Conservation Ass’n v. TVA, 502 F.3d 1316, 

1322 (11th Cir. 2007).  The Rutherford court recognized that a discharge is not a continuing 

violation on the basis that the discharger fails to remedy its effects. 756 F. Supp. 2d at 791.   

 Therefore, in addition to being factual distinguishable from Sasser, courts have outright 

refused to follow Sasser’s reasoning.  Thus, the Court should follow Telluride and Rutherford, 

and refuse to follow Sasser.  The district court correctly recognized that NUWF’s continuing 

violation theory would render the ongoing requirements under the CWA meaningless.  

Additionally, it would obviate application of the statute of limitations, for it would never start to 

run, and thus should be rejected.   

III. NUWF’S CITIZEN SUIT IS BARRED BECAUSE NUDEP IS IN COMPLIANCE 

WITH CWA § 505(b)(1)(B) AND THE ACTION IS MOOT. 

 

The citizen suit brought by NUWF is barred from further action under CWA § 

505(b). 33 U.S.C. §1365(b) (2006). NUWF’s citizen suit should be barred because 

NUDEP has commenced and is diligently prosecuting a civil action in a court of the 

United States requiring compliance with the CWA and the action is moot. 

a. CWA § 505 statutory language. 

CWA § 505 allows that “any citizen may commence a civil action on his own behalf . . . 

who is alleged to be in violation of an effluent standard or limitation under this Act . . .”  § 

1365(a).  Subsection (b) provides limits on actions brought by citizens.  § 1365(b).  CWA § 
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505(b) states:  

No action may be commenced . . . if the Administrator or State has commenced 

and is diligently prosecuting a civil or criminal action in a court of the United 

States . . . to require compliance with the standard, limitation, or order, . . . 

 

Id.  The citizen suit filed by NUWF should be barred because NUDEP has commenced 

and is diligently prosecuting a civil action in a court of the United States to require 

compliance. 

i.  NUDEP “has commenced” an action. 

 NUDEP has commenced an action that bars the suit by NUWF.  The language 

“has commenced” is in the past tense and is separated by one word from “is . . . 

prosecuting,” in the present tense.  Jeffrey G. Miller, Overlooked Issues in the “Diligent 

Prosecution” Citizen Suit Prosecution, 10 Widener L. Rev. 63, 76 (2003).  Due to the 

location and the juxtaposition of the verbs, arguably, Congress intended the tense 

difference to mean that a state prosecution must be commenced before the citizen suit is 

filed and the state prosecution must be on-going when the citizen suit is filed to bar the 

citizen suit.  Id.; see Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 54 (examining language of CWA § 505 and 

according much weight to the tense of verbs in § 505 statutory language).  While 

“commenced” has not been defined in the CWA, the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

state that “[a] civil action is commenced by filing a complaint with the court.”  FED. R. 

CIV. P. 3.   

NUDEP commenced its action in district court before NUWF filed its complaint.  

While NUWF sent a notice of intent to sue to the parties, the notice did not commence an 

action until August 30, 2011.  NUDEP filed its suit against Bowman on August 10, 2011, 

under § 505 of the CWA.  (R. at 5.)  Upon the filing by NUDEP, an action by the state 
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“had commenced” in accordance with § 505(b)(1)(B).  Since the state action was 

commenced before the citizen suit, which was filed twenty (20) days later, the citizen suit 

by NUWF should be barred.  

ii.  NUDEP “is diligently prosecuting” that action. 

The NUWF action is also barred because NUDEP is “diligently prosecuting” its § 

505 action against Bowman.  In any state or federal government proceedings under the 

CWA, there is a strong presumption of diligence.  See Jeffrey G. Miller, Theme and 

Variations in Statutory Preclusions Against Successive Environmental Enforcement 

Actions by EPA and Citizens: Part One: Statutory Bars in Citizen Suit Provisions, 28 

Harv. Envtl. L. Rev. 401, 465–66 (2004).  The “real question here is whether the 

government is moving steadily, with reasonable speed, energy, effectiveness and 

professionalism . . .”  Id. at 465.  Further, prosecutions under the CWA are heavily 

presumed “diligent.”  Piney Run Pres. Ass’n v. Cnty. Comm’rs of Carroll Cnty., Md., 523 

F.3d 453, 459 (4th Cir. 2008) cert. denied 555 U.S. 885 (2008); Citizens Legal Envtl. 

Action Network v. Premium Standard Farms, Inc., 2000 WL 220464, at 12 (W.D. Mo. 

2000).  This presumption arises from a variety of policy considerations including 

deference to state decision making, protection of litigant’s interest in finality of cases, 

and preservation of the incentives that polluters might have to settle charges with 

authorities.  Id.   

Additionally, citizen plaintiffs must meet a high burden in showing that a 

prosecution is not diligent.  Karr v. Hefner, 475 F.3d 1192, 1198 (10th Cir. 2007).  A 

court must presume the diligence of the state's prosecution of a defendant absent 

persuasive evidence that the state has engaged in a pattern of conduct in its prosecution of 
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the defendant that could be considered dilatory, collusive or otherwise in bad faith.  

Conn. Fund for the Env’t. v. Contract Plating Co., Inc., 631 F. Supp. 1291, 1293 (D. 

Conn. 1986).  In only one case has a court found that the state failed to diligently 

prosecute, even though the state had filed an action under the CWA.  See Laidlaw, 528 

U.S. at 167; see also American Bar Association Section of Environment, Energy, and 

Resources, Wetlands Law and Policy Understanding Section 404 395–396 (Kim Diana 

Connolly et. al. ed.) (2005).  In Laidlaw, the defendant received notice of a citizens intent 

to sue and subsequently asked the state agency to file suit against it and the defendant 

corporations attorney drafted the complaint, paid the filing fee, and settlement was 

ultimately a small civil penalty, all to defeat the citizen suit.  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 176-

177.  Because of the collusion between parties, the citizen suit was not barred.  Laidlaw, 

528 U.S. at 189.  In the case at bar, there is no such evidence of any type of collusion 

between NUDEP and Bowman. 

 Further, “diligent” is not defined in the statute.  Webster’s Dictionary defines 

diligent as “characterized by steady, earnest, attentive, and energetic application and 

effort in a pursuit . . . .”  WEBSTER’S NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 633 (2d. ed).  

 In the instant case, once NUDEP received notice that NUWF intended to sue, 

NUDEP earnestly pursued and then agreed on a settlement with Bowman.  NUDEP then 

filed an action in district court within a forty-one (41) day period to enforce the 

agreement that it reached with Bowman.  (R. at 4–5.)  NUDEP’s efficiency exhibits 

nothing less than diligence.  In addition, on September 5, 2011, NUDEP filed a motion to 

enter a decree with identical terms to its settlement order with Bowman.  (R. at 5.)  In 

short, the small time period between initial notice of the violation and filing suit with the 
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court was unquestionably illustrated by steady, earnest, and attentive application in the 

pursuit of righting the wrong created by Bowman.  NUDEP has diligently prosecuted its 

civil action so as to bar NUWF’s citizen suit. 

iii.  NUDEP’s action is occurring in a “court of the United States.”  

CWA § 505(b) requires that to bar a citizen suit a civil action must be occurring in 

a court of the United States or a state.  33 U.S.C. § 1365(b) (2006).  NUDEP’s suit was 

filed in the United States District Court for the District of New Union.  (R. at 5.)  There 

can be no question that this section of the statute has been met.  NUWF’s suit is barred 

because NUDEP’s suit has been filed in a court of the United States. 

iv.  NUDEP’s action is one “requiring compliance.” 

 CWA § 505(b) requires that to bar a citizen suit an action filed by a state or federal 

agency must be one “requiring compliance.”  § 1365(b) (2006).  Again, “requiring compliance” 

is not defined by the statute.  The plain meaning of “requiring compliance” is to coerce a 

defendant to cease violating the requirement being enforced.  Jeffrey G. Miller, Overlooked 

Issues in the “Diligent Prosecution” Citizen Suit Prosecution, 10 Widener L. Rev. 63, 83 (2003).  

The legislative history affirms that Congress explicitly used the term “to require compliance.”  

Jeffrey G. Miller, Theme and Variations in Statutory Preclusions Against Successive 

Environmental Enforcement Actions by EPA and Citizens: Part One: Statutory Bars in Citizen 

Suit Provisions, 28 Harv. Envtl. L. Rev. 401, 447 (2004); see S. REP. NO. 92-414, at 61 (1971), 

reprinted in 1972 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3668, 3746.  The report indicates that “requiring compliance” 

meant compelling compliance with the statute.  Id. 

 In the case at bar, the consent order between Bowman and NUDEP and the court action 

to enforce the order are undoubtedly meant to require compliance and compel Bowman to 
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comply with the CWA.  The order imposes obligations on Bowman that are potentially costly 

and burdensome and have the intention of righting the wrong that was created when Bowman 

initially violated the CWA.   (R. at 4.)  

b.  NUWF’s action is moot.     

 Additionally, the action by NUWF against Bowman is moot.  In Laidlaw, the Supreme 

Court provided the standard for determining whether a case has been mooted by a defendant’s 

voluntary conduct.  528 U.S. at 189.  The Court stated that ‘“[a] case might become moot if 

subsequent events make it absolutely clear that the allegedly wrongful behavior could not 

reasonably be expected to recur.’”  Id. (quoting United States v. Concentrated Phosphate Export 

Ass’n., 393 U.S. 199, 203 (1968)).  The standard is stringent and the burden lies with the party 

asserting the mootness.  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 189; see Steven C. Russo, Elizabeth A. Read, 

Defense Perspectives on Environmental Citizen Suits, 10 Widener L. Rev. 395, 404–406 (2004). 

 Here, NUDEP and Bowman entered into a settlement agreement on August 1, 

2011.  (R. at 4.)  The agreement provided for a buffer zone, conservation easement, and 

construction and maintenance of a year-round wetland on Bowman’s property.  (R. at 4.)  

The agreement provides that Bowman will not clear more wetlands in the area.  (R. at 4.)  

And as discussed above, the initial removal of vegetation was a one-time occurrence and 

cannot be reasonably expected to recur.  Ostensibly, the issue is moot and NUWF’s 

citizen suit should be barred. 

IV.  BOWMAN'S ACTIONS VIOLATED §§ 301 and 404 OF THE CLEAN WATER ACT. 

   

 The CWA prohibits the “discharge of any pollutant by any person,” unless the discharge 

complies with a CWA permitting program.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(a) (2006).  If the pollutant the 

individual seeks to discharge is a dredged or fill material, the CWA requires the individual to 
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obtain a § 404 permit from the COE.  § 1344(a).  In this case, Bowman discharged a variety of 

dredged and fill materials into a navigable water without obtaining a § 404 permit when he 

cleared and filled a wetland on his property.  Therefore, this Court should reverse the ruling of 

the lower court and hold that Bowman's actions satisfy all the elements required for a violation 

of §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA. 

a. Bowman’s landclearing activities constitute a discharge of dredged and fill material 

into a navigable water without a § 404 permit. 

 

 Under the CWA, it is unlawful to discharge dredged or fill material into navigable waters 

without a permit.  §§ 1311(a), 1344(a).  The CWA defines “discharge” as “a discharge of a 

pollutant.”  § 1362(16).  The term “discharge of a pollutant” is defined as “any addition of any 

pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.”  § 1362(12).  Accordingly, for a discharge 

to fall within § 404, it must involve: (1) an addition (2) to navigable waters (3) of dredged or fill 

material that is (4) a pollutant (5) from a point source.  Bowman has agreed that the land he 

cleared is a jurisdictional wetland under the CWA under COE's Wetlands Delineation Manual.  

(R. at 9.)   

 The CWA does not define the terms “dredged material” or “fill material,” but COE 

regulations define the terms.   The COE defines “dredged material” as “material that is excavated 

or dredged from waters of the United States.”  33 C.F.R. § 323.2(c) (2012).  The COE defines 

“fill material” as “material placed in waters of the United States where the material has the effect 

of: (i) Replacing any portion of a water of the United States with dry land; or (ii) Changing the 

bottom elevation of any portion of a water of the United States.”  § 323.2(e).  The rule also states 

that “[e]xamples of such fill material include, but are not limited to: rock, sand, soil, clay, 

construction debris, wood chips, overburden from mining or other excavation activities, and 

materials used to create any structure or infrastructure in the waters of the U.S.”  Id.   
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 Here, the materials Bowman moved during his landclearing activities meet the definition 

of “dredged material” because he excavated and dredged material, such as rock and sand, when 

he dug trenches in the wetland.  (R. at 4.)  As part of his activities, Bowman also knocked down 

trees and other vegetation.  (R. at 4.)  He then pushed the leveled vegetation into windrows, 

burned the windrows, and then pushed the vegetation remains and ashes into the trenches.  (R. at 

4.)  These actions moved materials that were comprised of “fill material” because he placed in 

the wetland soil, wood chips, excavation overburden, and other examples of “fill material” 

included within the definition.  He then used a bulldozer to level his land by pushing soil from 

high portions to lower lying portions, thereby raising the bottom elevation of the wetland.  (R. at 

4.)  Finally, Bowman’s creation of a wide ditch through the length of his property, effectively 

replaced a portion of the wetland with dry land assuming he placed it to the side and spread it 

over the field. 

 Bowman does not contest that the materials he moved while leveling and filling his land 

included substances that fall within the definition of “pollutant” under § 502(6) the CWA.  (R. at 

8.)  Several of the dredged and fill materials he discharged into the wetland, such as dredged 

spoil, rock, sand, and biological materials are included in the definition of “pollutant” under the 

CWA.  See 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6) (2006).  Bowman also does not contest that his use of a 

bulldozer to carry out his activities meets the definition of “point source” under CWA § 502(14).  

(R. at 8.); see § 1362(14).  The district court correctly found that Bowman’s landclearing 

activities satisfied all of these elements of a §§ 301(a) and 404 violation.  The district court erred, 

however, in holding that the final element of “addition” was not satisfied. 

i.  Bowman’s landclearing activities constitute an “addition”" of a pollutant because 

they involved the redeposit of materials. 

 

 The CWA does not define the term “addition,” thereby leaving its interpretation to the 
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COE and the courts.  Contrary to the holding of the district court, however, the courts and the 

COE have not limited the jurisdiction of § 404 to the regulation of pollutants “from the outside 

world.”  (R. at 9.)  Beginning in 1983, the courts began holding that the word “addition” within 

the definition of “discharge” includes landowners’ redepositing activities.  See Avoyelles 

Sportsmen’s League, Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 923 (5th Cir. 1983).  Similarly, the COE has 

defined “addition” in the context of a “discharge of dredged material” to include the redeposit of 

dredged materials within a wetland.  See 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d).  Here, Bowman’s landclearing 

activities redeposited dredged materials within the wetland, and therefore, the element of 

“addition” within the requirements of a §§ 301(a) and 404 violation is satisfied. 

 The EPA has argued that an activity comprised a “discharge” only if those materials were 

introduced “from the outside world.”  Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Gorsuch, 693 F.2d 156, 165 (D.C. 

Cir. 1982).  Referencing EPA's contention in Gorsuch, the Fifth Circuit held that it is not 

necessary that the “materials must come from an external source in order to constitute a 

discharge necessitating a § 404 permit.”  Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 924 n.43.  The Avoyelles court 

held that “[t]he word ‘addition,’ as used in the definition of ‘discharge,’ may reasonably be 

understood to include ‘redeposit.’”  Id. at 923.  The Ninth Circuit has followed suit, holding that 

the term “addition” includes the redeposition of materials, “even if the material discharged 

originally comes from the streambed itself.”  Rybachek v. EPA, 904 F.2d 1276, 1285 (9th Cir. 

1990) (holding that redepositing placer mining in the same streambed from which it was 

extracted constitutes an addition of a pollutant); see United States v. M.C.C. of Florida, Inc., 772 

F.2d 1501, 1506 (11th Cir. 1985) (holding that redepositing sediment dredged by tugboat 

propellers constitutes an addition of a pollutant), vacated and remanded on other grounds, 481 

U.S. 1034 (1987), readopted in part and remanded on other grounds, 848 F.2d 1133 (11th Cir. 
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1988), reh’g granted in other part, 863 F.2d 802 (11th Cir. 1989). 

 In Avoyelles, private landowners conducted deforestation activities on a regulated 

wetland in order to use it for soybean production.  715 F.2d at 901.  The landowners used 

bulldozers to clear timber and vegetation, and raked them into windrows.  Id.  They then burned 

the windrows and used their machinery to disc the ashes and stumps into the ground, which 

leveled the land.  Id.  The landowners also dug an approximately three-quarter-mile long ditch, in 

which the excavated earth was “piled alongside the ditch and was spread over the adjacent area.”  

Id.  at 921.  The court held that the landowner’s landclearing activities resulted in a displacement 

and redepositing of the soil, and therefore constituted a “discharge” under the CWA.  Id. at 921, 

923; see United States v. Huebner, 752 F.2d 1235, 1242 (7th Cir. 1985) (holding that the use of 

bulldozers to spread material excavated from a ditch over several acres of wetland constitutes a 

“discharge”). 

 Bowman’s landclearing activities are nearly identical to those in Avoyelles.  Similar to the 

landowners in Avoyelles, Bowman turned his wetland into agricultural land by deforesting and 

leveling the field.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman used a bulldozer to level his land, pushing soil from high 

portions of the field into the lower lying areas and into the trenches he dug, which redeposited 

soil, rocks, and vegetation remains over the wetland.  (R. at 4.)  Also similar to the landowners 

activities in Avoyelles, Bowman formed a wide ditch the length of his property for the purpose of 

draining the field into the Muddy.  (R. at 4.)  The materials that he dredged from the ditch were 

assumingly either leveled with the rest of the field or discharged into the river.  Again, this 

landclearing activity redeposited materials in a navigable water.  According to the holdings of 

several Circuit Court of Appeals, this redeposition of materials constitutes an "addition" of a 

pollutant, even though they were extracted from the same regulated wetland.   
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ii. Bowman’s landclearing activities constitute an “addition” of a pollutant because 

they included mechanized landclearing and sidecasting, and do not qualify as 

“incidental feedback.” 

 

 The COE has also taken the position that redeposited materials resulting from 

landclearing activities constitutes a “discharge,” requiring a § 404 permit.  COE's definition of 

“discharge of dredged material,” however, has received judicial scrutiny over the past thirty 

years.  See 64 Fed. Reg. 25,120, 25,121 (May 10, 1999).  The D.C. Circuit rejected COE’s prior  

definition of “discharge of dredged material,” holding that the term “addition” does not include 

“incidental fallback.”   Nat’l Mining Ass’n v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 145 F.3d 1399, 1404 

(D.C. Cir. 1998).  The D.C. Circuit explained that incidental fallback occurs when “material is 

removed from the waters of the United States and a small portion of it happens to fall back.”  Id.   

The court held that such a situation cannot be a discharge because it “represents a net 

withdrawal, not an addition, of material.”  Id. 

 In amending its definition of “discharge of dredged material” to exclude incidental 

fallback, the COE declared that the amended rule does not alter the well-settled doctrine that 

redeposits of dredged material constitute an “addition.”  64 Fed. Reg. 25,120, 25,121.  The COE 

stated that “[j]udicial decisions have established, and the D.C. Circuit recognized in [National 

Mining], that redeposits associated with the following are subject to CWA jurisdiction: 

mechanized landclearing [and] redeposits at various distances from the point of removal (e.g. 

sidecasting).”  Accordingly, the COE regulations define “discharge of dredged material,” as:  

any addition of dredged material into, including redeposit of dredged material 

other than incidental fallback within, the waters of the United States.  The term 

includes, but is not limited to, the following:  
 

. . . . 

 

(iii) Any addition, including redeposit other than incidental fallback, of 

dredged material, including excavated material, into waters of the United 

States which is incidental to any activity, including mechanized 
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landclearing, ditching, channelization, or other excavation. 

 

33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d).  Also relevant, the regulation states that the definition does not include 

“[a]ctivities that involve only the cutting or removing of vegetation above the ground (e.g. 

mowing, rotary cutting, and chainsawing) where the activity neither substantially disturbs the 

root system nor involves mechanized pushing, dragging, or other similar activities that redeposit 

excavated soil material.” § 323.2(d). 

 The issue of whether landclearing activities qualify as “incidental fallback” was raised in  

United States v. Bay Houston Towing Co., 33 F.Supp.2d 596, 601 (E.D. Mich. 1999).  The 

landowner in Bay Houston excavated peat moss from a wetland using a bulldozer and pushed 

layers of the peat material into windrows for future harvest.  Id. at 599.  The landowner asserted 

that its activities were excluded from CWA regulation as “incidental fallback” within the 

meaning of National Mining.  Id. at 601-02.  The Bay Houston court rejected the landowner’s 

contention, holding that “[u]nlike incidental fallback, these activities involve purposeful 

relocation.”  Id. at 605.  The court reasoned that “deliberately redeposit[ing] the materials in 

other locations within the bog at varying distances” does not qualify as incidental fallback.  Id. 

 The Bay Houston court also considered the landowner’s sidecasting activities during the 

excavation of drainage ditches.  Id. at 599.  The court held that “sidecasting” involves “placing 

removed soil in a wetland but at some distance from the point of removal (e.g., by the side of an 

excavated ditch).”  Id.; National Mining, 145 F.3d at 1402.  The court explained that sidecasting 

“has always been subject to § 404.”  Bay Houston, 33 F. Supp. 2d. at 605.  In a similar case, it 

was argued that sidecasting cannot be an “addition” of a pollutant, because it does not result in a 

net increase in the amount of material present in the wetland.  United States v. Deaton, 209 F.3d 

331, 335 (4th Cir. 2000).  Rejecting this argument, the Fourth Circuit held that “sidecasting adds 
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a pollutant that was not present before” when excavated material is redeposited in the same 

wetland.  Id. at 336. 

 Bowman’s landclearing activities fall precisely within COE's definition  of “discharge of 

dredged material” because they did not qualify as incidental fallback, but consisted of 

mechanized landclearing and sidecasting.  This case is distinguished from National Mining 

because Bowman’s activities did not include a removal of material.  Instead, like the peat moss 

harvesting activities in Bay Houston, Bowman’s actions entailed a purposeful relocation of 

materials in the same wetland where they were excavated.  (R. at 4.)  Additionally, in order to 

plant wheat, Bowman used a bulldozer to clear trees and other vegetation, substantially 

disturbing their root systems.  (R. at 4, 5.)  This mechanized landclearing also included the 

redeposition of excavated soil material, further preventing it from falling within COE’s § 

323.2(d) exclusions.  Finally, as in Deaton, Bowman’s excavation of a ditch through his field 

consisted of sidecasting, resulting in an “addition” of pollutants to the wetland that did not exist 

before.  Bowman’s landclearing activities satisfy all of the elements required for a discharge of 

dredged or fill material into a navigable water, and as a result, he has violated the CWA by 

failing to comply with the § 404 permitting program. 

b.  Holding that Bowman’s landclearing activities required a § 404 permit is consistent 

with the explicit goal of the Clean Water Act. 

  

 The stated goal of the CWA is to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical and 

biological integrity of the Nation's waters.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).  The drafters of the CWA 

stated in a report that accompanied the House bill that “[t]he word ‘integrity’ as used is intended 

to convey a concept that refers to a condition in which the natural structure and function of 

ecosystems is maintained.”  H. REP. NO. 92-911, at 76-77 (1972).  Defining the term “addition” 

to include redeposit is “consistent with both the purposes and legislative history of the statute.”  
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Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 923.  In the same way, a holding in this case that Bowman's landclearing 

activities meet the definition of ”addition” and are regulated under § 404, is consistent to the 

goals of the CWA. 

 The COE has explained that the § 404 permitting process is “designed to avoid 

unacceptable adverse impacts, and to the extent adverse impacts cannot be avoided, assure they 

are appropriately minimized or mitigated.”  64 Fed. Reg. 25,120, 25,121.  The COE is concerned 

about the destruction of wetlands though “increased flooding or runoff and harm to neighboring 

property, pollution of streams and rivers, and loss of valuable habitat.”  Id.  In reviewing an 

application for a § 404 permit, the COE is required to consider any “unacceptable adverse effect 

on municipal water supplies, shellfish beds and fishery areas (including spawning and breeding 

wells), wildlife, or recreational areas.”  33 U.S.C. § 1344(c).   

 The Fourth Circuit has explained that even plain dirt harms the environment when it is 

redeposited in the same wetland from which it was excavated.  See Deaton, 209 F.3d at 336.  The 

Deaton court reasoned that the inclusion of dredged spoil and other “seemingly benign 

substances like rock, sand, cellar dirt, and biological materials” within the CWA definition of 

“pollutant,” evidences Congress's concern that the redeposition of these substances into wetlands 

would harm the environment.  Id.  The discharge of these materials “threatens to increase the 

amount of suspended sediment, harming aquatic life.”  Id., citing 40 C.F.R. § 230.41(b).  Further, 

the court stated: 

These effects are no less harmful when the dredged spoil is redeposited in the 

same wetland from which it was excavated.  The effects on hydrology and the 

environment are the same.  Surely Congress would not have used the word 

“addition” (in “addition of any pollutant”) to prohibit the discharge of dredged 

spoil in a wetland, while intending to prohibit such pollution only when the 

dredged material comes from outside the wetland. 

 

Deaton, 209 F.3d at 336. 
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 Similarly, the Seventh Circuit has reasoned that “soil and vegetation removed from one 

part of a wetland or waterway and redeposited in another could disturb the ecological balance of 

the affected areas.”  Greenfield Mills, Inc. v. Macklin, 361 F.3d 934, 949 (7th Cir. 2004).  In 

M.C.C. of Florida, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that the “redepositing of spoil dredged up by 

the tug's propellers onto the adjacent sea grass beds clearly disturbs the ‘physical and biological 

integrity’ of the subject areas.”  772 F.2d at 1506.  The court explained that this environmental 

damage “was too severe for nature to be able to restore them to their natural condition herself.”  

Id.  Likewise, the Fifth Circuit held in Avoyelles that the landowner’s landclearing activities in 

that case “would significantly alter the character of the wetlands and limit the vital ecological 

functions served by the tract.”  715 F.2d at 923.   

 Here, Bowman’s redeposition of materials within the wetland has disrupted its physical 

integrity, and has very likely disturbed its chemical and biological integrity as well.  The 

wetland’s natural structure and ecosystem function has been altered completely as it went from a 

forested wetland to a cleared and leveled field.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman created a ditch with the intent 

of draining his field, which raises concerns about increased runoff and pollution to the Muddy.  

Failing to regulate Bowman’s activities ignores the CWA’s goal of counter these adverse 

environmental impacts. 

 Moreover, as explained by the Deaton court, the rock, sand, dredged spoil, and biological 

materials that Bowman excavated are “pollutants,” and can harm the wetland when redeposited.  

As in the factually related case of Avoyelles, Bowman’s landclearing activities most likely 

altered the function and character of the wetland, substantially degrading the quality of a 

regulated wetland. Therefore, this Court should reverse the district court and hold that Bowman 

violated CWA §§ 301 and 404 by discharging dredged and fill material into a regulated wetland 
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without a § 404 permit, and the district court's failure to so hold violates the explicit purpose of 

the CWA. 

CONCLUSION 

 NUWF has standing to bring its § 505 claim on behalf of its members under Article III.  

Bowman’s landclearing activities are wholly past, therefore, there was no continuing violation as 

required for subject matter jurisdiction under the CWA.  Additionally, NUWF’s citizen suit is 

barred by NUDEP’s diligent prosecution of Bowman.  Finally, Bowman’s landclearing activities 

violated §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA. 

For the foregoing reasons, NUDEP respectfully requests this Court reverse the decision 

of the district court in denying NUWF’s standing claim, affirm the finding of no continuing and 

ongoing violation, affirm that NUWF’s citizen suit is barred by NUDEP’s diligent prosecution of 

Bowman, and reverse the district court’s decision that Bowman did not violate the CWA. 
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